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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION
JEFFREY ALLEN ROWE,
Plaintiff,
V. No. 1:17€v-00599SEB-MPB

ALICIA D. COOMER Nurse et al.

N N N N N N N N N

Defendants.

Order Granting in Part Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment and
Denying Plaintiff's Partial Motion for Summary Judgment

Plaintiff Jeffrey Allen Rowe brought this civil rights action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983
alleging claims of constitutionally inadequate medical cangl supplemental statmedical
malpracticenegligenceand breach of contract claims based on the treatment he received for an
injured right thumb while at the New Castle Correctional Facility (‘“NCCHHe claims currently
pending in this action are as follows:

e Eighth Amendment deliberate indifference claifor failing to care for his right thumb
injury againstNurse Alicia Coomer,Nurse Barbara BrubakerDr. Bruce Ippel,Nurse
Melissa S. WehrleyNurseMegan Miller, Health Services Administratdmber Dllow,
NurseDoug BeitlerandNurseJeffery Glover;

e Eighth Amendmenpolicy, practice or customiaim against Corizon;

e Indiana state law claims of negligence against Nurse Beitler, Nurse Coohéuese
Dillow for failing to timely see or schedule Rowe for a medical visit;

¢ Indiana state medical malpractice claims against Dr. Ippel, Nurse EBmylaid Nurse
Glover for failing to provide treatment for his right thumb injuand

e A third party beneficiary laim that Corizon breached its contract witie Indiana
Department of Correctiorf IDOC”).

Now before the Court are cross motions for summary judgment filed by Rowe and the

defendants. Rowe seeks summary judgment in his favor as to: (1) his deliberate iewidéer
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claims against Nurse Wehrley, Usse Beitler, Dr. IppelHSA Miller, Nurse Coomer and Nurse
Dillow; (2) his negligence claisiagainst Nurse Beitler, Nurseo@mer and Nurse Dillow; and
(3) his claim that Corizon breached its contract with the ID@€edkt. 77. The defendants seek
summary judgment on all the claims alleged against them. Dkt. 79.
l. Summary Judgment Legal Standard

Summary judgment is appropriate when the movant shows that there is no genuire disput
as to any material fact and that the movant is entitled to judgmeannatter of law.SeeFed. R.
Civ. P. 56(a). A “material fact” is one that “might affect the outcome of the suftriderson v.
Liberty Lobby, Inc.477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). To survive a motion for summary judgment, the
non-moving party must set fortbpecific, admissible evidence showing that there is a material
issue for trial. Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). The Court views the record in
the light most favorable to the nomoving party and draws all reasonable inferences irptréy’s
favor. Darst v. Interstate Brands Corp512 F.3d 903, 907 (7th Cir. 2008). It cannot weigh
evidence or make credibility determinations on summary judgment becaustasiasare left to
the factfinder.O’Leary v. Accretive Health, Inc657 F.3d 625, 630 (7th Cir. 2011).

A dispute about a material fact is genuine only “if the evidence is such thabaabklas
jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving partihderson477 U.S. at 248. If no reasonable
jury could find for the non-moving party, then there is no “genuine” disgsitett v. Harris 550
U.S. 372, 380 (2007).

Courts often confront cross motions for summary judgment because Rules 56(a) and (b) of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure allow both plaintiffs and defendants & farosuch relief.
In such situations, courts must consider each party’s motion individually tonitegaf that party

has satisfied the summary judgment standaimdiana Civil Liberties Union Found., Inc. v.



Indiana Sec’y of Staj29 F. Supp. 3d 81821 (S.D. Ind. 2017) (citingohl v. Ass’n. of Trial
Lawyers of Am 183 F.R.D. 475 (D. Md. 1998)).

Local Rule 561 requires that a party seeking summary judgment “include a section labeled
‘Statement of Material Facts Not in Dispute’ containing the facts: (1) that aretiptyyen
determinative of the motion; and (2) as to which the movant contendssmergenuine issue.”
Id. A party opposing a summary judgment motion must “include a section labelean@taief
Material Facts in Dispute’ that identifies the potentially determinative factsaatolf disputes
that the party contends demonstratbspute of fact precluding summary judgmenid. Due to
the voluminous filings in this matter, only those material facts included in the aeopeiction
of the parties’ brief will be considered despite any assertions that addfiotsaincluded in the
argument section are incorporated into the statement of f&e&s.Smith v. Corizon Med. Sefvs
No. 1:12cv-1208 SEB-MJD, 2013 WL 2458461, at *1 (S.D. Ind. May 30, 20¢Q]]istict courts
have discretion to strictly enforce their local rules eagainstpro se litigants.”) (citations
omitted); Pearle Vision, Inc. v. Romnb41 F.3d 751, 758 (7th Cir. 2008) (“[l]t is [ ] well
established that pro se litigants are not excused from compliance with paedceths.” (citation
omitted)).

Il. Material Facts

Consistent with the foregoing, the following faatsreevaluated pursuant to the standards
set forth above.

A. Facts Regarding Rowe’s Medical History and Right Thumb Injury

At all times relevant to the claims in this action, Rowe was incarcerated at.NG{@Eon

wasthe corporate entity contracted by the IDO@tovidemedical services to NCCF until March



31, 2017. All of the individual defendants in this action were employed by Corizon during the
relevant time period.

On August 4, 2016, Rowe got inkdight with another inmate, and while blocking a punch
with his right hand, his right thumb was injured. DktI78t 3. Shortly after sustaining the injury,
Nurse Wehrley saw Rowe. Dkt.-3Q at 13; dkt. 781 at 140142. Rowe reported that he had
been in an altercation with another inmate and had injured his right thumb at the kihdi.ckD:
exam, Rowe had an active range of motion, no significant tenderness, no swellimgisimgy,
and no signs of disptement.Id. Nurse Wehrley applied an Ace wrap to Rowe’s right hand,
which, according to Rowe, providéanmediate improvement in comfdrtld. She told Rowe to
file a Request for Healthcare (“RFHC”) form if the pain did not resolve it8lirse Wehrley
testifiesshe provided Rowe with Tylenol pursuant to Dr. Ippel’s telephone addat,1, but Rowe
disputes that he received any Tylenol during this appointment, dkta7&. Nurse Wehrley did
not see Rowe again.

Onor about August 5, 2016, Rowe submitted RFHC # 329158, which stated:

| saw the nurse yesterday about an injury (possible fracture) tghtyliumb from

a physical altercation that occured [sic] between myself and my formereBunki

She said if my finger bruises, or changes colors, to submialiiHéare Request

for a follow up. My hand/thumb is very bruised (purple) and it hurts a lot, and |

can’'t move it! |1 need to be seen and given something for my pain ASAP! Thanks!
Dkt. 80-11 at 4. On the form, a notation in the middle section on thedeft side indicated that
the form was triaged on August 8, 2016, and Rowe was referred to nursing sidkl.cdlowe
testifies that Nurse Bill Smith told Rowe that vt Rowe’sRFHC in the Nurse Sick Call Stack
(that Nurse Doug Beitler “handled”) on August 8, 2016. Dkt. 86 at 7-8. Defendantseritiaat

they are unsure who put Rowe’s RFHC in the Nurse Sick Call S@eddkt. 80 at 8dkt. 802,

1 7. Nurse Beitler did nateview Rowe’s RFHC form until August 29, 201&l. Nurse Beitler



wrote “Resubmitt [sic] if present,” and returned the form to Rowe. Resubmésiépt apparently
were instructions to Rowe to resubmit a RFHC if his symptoms were still present t&iifies
he was not sent a copy of the response. Dkt. 78 at 5.

Rowetestifiesthat between August 8, 2016, and late September 2016, he submitted at least
five RFHC, two letters, and a grievance to Dr. Ippel requesting to be seen aed finedis rght
thumb injury. Dkt. 78 at Gjkt. 781 at 173.In contrastNurse Beitlettestifiesthat Rowe did not
send any RFHCs relating to his right thumb between August 5, 2016, and August 29, 2016, and
that Rowe never resubmitted his RFHC. Dkt. 80-2, § 7.

Rowe alsotestifiesthat between August 10, 2016, and late September 2016, Rowe sent
Megan Miller, the NCCF Health Care Service Administrator, at least three lieti@ming her of
his right thumb injury and asking for her help to be seen. Dkt. 78 at 6; dkt. 78-1 at 173.

On October 3, 2016SA Miller saw Rowe and referred him to Dr. Ippel. Dkt. 78 at 6.
On October 3, 2016, Dr. Ippel saw Rowe regarding his complaints about his right thumb pain.
Dkt. 80-11 at 69. Rowe reported that he had injured his right thumb about two months prior in
an altercation and that he had been in restricted housing and unable to ie Re&we reported
that while in restricted housing, he had “tried to ignore itl” Rowe stated that his thumb had
“mostly gotten bette but remain[ed] sore and somewhat stiff and a little swollen” and he
wondered what was going ond. Dr. Ippel examined the right thumb, which was tender to
palpation and Rowe had mild, decreased range of matiorDr. Ippel obtained an-say, which
did not reveal a fracture, dislocation, or other abnormaldy.Dr. Ippel instructed Rowe to apply
heat for any discomfortld. Heat is a pain management tool for chronic pain. DkB,8D5
Heat also helps with stiffness, which Rowe had on examnDr. Ippel instructed Rowe to notify

him if the heat failed to improve his condition. Dkt-BDat 6.During theexamination, Dr. Ippel



said Rowe definitely has a soft tissue injury and may never regaimfgierof motion. Dkt. 78
at 6; dkt.78-1 at 5. AlthougRowe requested pain medicatialuring this appointmente did
not receive even Tylenol from Dr. Ippel. Dkt. 78 at 6; dkt. 78-1 at 5.

Between about October 10, 2016, and early February Zaiwe submitted at least five
additional RFHC and letters to Dr. Ippel to report that heat was not helping wighihisDkt. 78
at 6; dkt. 781 at 173. Dr. Ippel did not see Rowe again after the October 3, 2016, appointment.
Between October 3, 2016, atiet middle of February 2017, Rowe senhteast five letters tbISA
Miller to inform her that heat treatment was not helping with his thumb injury &muga® be
seen. Dkt. 78 at 7; dkt. 7Bat 173. Rowenever received a response. Dkt. 78 atry October
2016, in response to Rowe’s grievance about his thumb &%, Miller notified the grievance
specialist that Rowe had been evaluated for his thumb injury on October 3, 2016, and was
instructed to start the heat program. Dkt83(7. Rowe had also been instructed to submit a
RFHC form if the heat treatment was not effective.

Between October 4, 2016, and about the middle of January 2017, Rowe submitted five
RFHCs to Nurse Coomer about being seen for his right thumb itjutryshe failed to take any
action Dkt. 78 at 7.

Rowe knewhowto properly submit RFHE and had previously received prompt responses
to those RFHCs. On October 1, 2016, Rowe submitted RFHC # 334123 regarding a refill for his
prescription for Prilosec, a medication needed for his acid reflux. DKt1805. Nurse Coomer
responded that his Prilosec had been ordeldd.On October 29, 2016, Rowe submitted RFHC
# 338762 again asking for a refill of his Prilosed. at 10. Nurse Coomer responded that it had
been orderedld. On November 28, 2016, Rowe submitted RFH&3#122, again asking for a

refill of his Prilosec. Id. at 11. One of his medical providers ordered the medicatidn.On



December 2, 2016, Rowe submitted RFHB28572, requesting to see a dentist.at 12. The
dentist saw Rowe on December 23, 201é. On January 21, 2017, Rowe submitted RFHC #
344176 regarding his thumb pain:

| seen Dr. Ippel back in September or October 2016 about my thumb. It is still

hurting really bad. | need to see him again and | need something for the pain. I've

put in several requests lately (over the last 2 months) and haven’'t heard back from

you. Thanks!
Dkt. 80-11 at 13. That same day, nursing staff referred Rowe to Nursing SickdCall.

On January 23, 2017, Nurse Coomer evaluated Rowarisimg Sick Call.ld.; dkt. 8G11
at 1416. On exam, there was some swelling noted to the right thumb area and Rowe had limited
range of motion in the thumb, but there was no weaknessThe area was tender to touch and
Rowe complained of pain with movemend. There was no discoloration or heat noted.
Rowe also denied spasms, tingling, and numbrdsdis vital signs were also normadl. Nurse
Coomer instructed Rowe to apply heat for discomfddt. She also instructedoweto put in a
RFHC for sick call if his symptoms did not subside or they became more skkexeirseCoomer
referred Rowe to the provider for the Chronic Care Chmd to followup on his complaints of
thumb pain via email to théhronic Care Cliniccheduler, Amber Dillowld.

Nurse Coomer failed to provide Tylenol fBrowe’s complaints of pain. Dkt. 78 at 7.
Nurse Coometestifiesshedid not call the provider for sartay orders becaustowes thumb
pain was chronic in nature, and he had previously been seen for the injury by Dr. Ippel and the x
ray taken in October 2016 was normal. Dkt48([11. If the heat therapy did not work, Rowe
could have submitted another RFHC for sick céll. Additionally, Rowe could have purchased

over-theeounter pain relievers from the commissary, which would be appropriate for chramic pai

Id.



IDOC Healthcare Services Directive 2.17 states that-thextounter medications should
be purchased by ¢hinmate from the commissary, unless the condition is deemed a “seridts heal
condition,” a determination made by a medical professiddal{ 12 id. at 1:45. The Directive
further states that “when an offender has trouble obtaining OTCs duederindj the issue will
not be addressed by healthcare staffl’; 1 12. Rather, Facility Heads shall have the authority to
provide or withhold these items in much the same way that other hygiene items agednyalal.

On January 24, 2017, Nurse Dillawceived an email from Nurse Coomer with a list of
patients that needed to be scheduled to see the provider Onithveic Care Clinior non-urgent
medical complaints. Dkt. 89, 7. Nurse Coomer put Rowe on the list for Chronic Care Clinic
for complaints of thumb painid.

On February 2, 2017, Rowe submitiREHC #3248118, requesting more Prilosec because
he was experiencing pain. Dkt.-8Q at 17. Prilosec was orderettl. He repeated the same
request with success on March 2, 24d7at 18, and March 11, 201id, at 19.

On March 2, 2017, Nurse Coomer met with Rowe for his annual wellness visit. Bkt. 80
4, 113; Dkt. 7811 at 156160. Rowe had no complaints and his vitals were normal. Nurse
Coomer assessed Rowe’s tuberculosis exposure and performed a suicide riskeagsémth
were negative.ld. Nurse Coomer provided education on testiculareedimiration. Id. There
was no follow-up or referral requiredd.

On March 17, 2017, Nurse Dillow sent an email to Nurse Coomer with a list of patients
who had various medical appointments scheduled for March 20, ZIkt780-4, | 14;dkt. 804

at 8.



Rowewas on the schedule for March 20, 2017, which was the first opportunity for a
provider to evaluate him after Nurse Coomer referred him to the prawd&anuary 24, 2017
Dkt. 80-4, 1 14.

Rowe was housed in a special unit called the Annex, which iscallyseparate from the
main part of the prison. Dkt. &) 1 6. The Annex is comprised of the M and O buildings, which
are physically separate from each other and have separate offices for medicaestdtfate and
see patients. For security reasppatients housed in the M and O buildings did not go to the main
medicd unit for Chronic Care Clinicgpointments or provider appointments, unless there was an
emergency or some other reason that would require movement to the main medidal. uAit
provider (i.e., physician or nurse practitioner) would go to the Annex for Chronic Caie Cli
appointments and to see patients for-nogent medical complaints approximately twice a week.
Id. At the time Nurse Dillow scheduld@owe’s appointment, he was housed in the O building
but he was moved to the M building just prior to the appointment and thus was not seen by a
provider for chronic care on March 20, 2014d., 117-8.

On March 27, 2017, Rowe submitted RFH@55628 and requested to know hisod
type. Dkt. 8011 at 20. Nurse Coomer responded explaining that medical does not test for blood
type unless a patient needs a blood transfusibnThis is the last time Nurse Coomer had any
involvement with Rowe’s medical care and treatment egleto this lawsuit. Dkt. 8@, § 15.

On April 19, 2017 ,NurseWigal evaluated Rowe in response to several RFHC forms
regarding a variety of complaints, including thumb pain. Dktl8@t21-29. Rowe reportedhat
he had injured his thumb several months prior and had been evaluated by Dridppéd also
reported that he had been using heat with mild relief of symptwm&iurseWigal referred Rowe

to aprovider for further evaluationld.



NurseDillow was not aware that Rowe had not been seen iiCkmenic Care Clinian
March 2017 until Nurse Wigal referré®bweto the provider on April 19, 2017Dkt. 80-5, 9.
NurseDillow scheduled Rowe to see the provider for @eonic Care Cliniandcomplaintsof
thumb pain on May 4, 2017, which was the first available provider opening\aftee Wigal
referredRoweto a provider.ld.

On May 4, 2017NurseGlover evaluated Rowat theChronic Care Clinic Dkt. 80-7, |
10; dkt. 8011 at 30-33. Rowe was enrolled in the Chronic Care Clinmrogram for
gastroesophageal reflux disea&ERD). Dkt. 80-7, 1 10 Inmatesin the Chronic Care Clinic
program ardypically evaluated every 90 days for their chronic conditiolts. Chronic Care
Clinic appointnents are limited and are designed to address only chronic problems and adjust
medications and other treatments if necessaty.If an offender has nenhronic problems that
need to be addressed, those issues will be addressed when the offender is evahepeoviyer
during the provider’s sickall scheduleld. However, during this appointmemurseGlover did
evaluate Rowe for his complaints of a lump on his left tedtieiehe had already h&a one year,
butwhich wasgetting bigge andmore painful. Nurse Glover also evaluated Rowai®nic right
thumb pain, and documented that the thumb painduasoRowe“stubbing” his thumlseveral
months ago while playing basketballd. Rowe disputes that he stated that he hurt his thumb
while playing basketball. Dkt. 91 at 4. Rowe described the pain as beingighhealmar area
of the right thumb.Dkt. 80-7, § 10 A review of Rowe’s previous-kay reportindicated that there
was no fractureld. On exam, Rowe had a lesion on leif¢ testicle but his genitourinary system
was otherwis@ormal. Id. There was no indication of a hernia basedNarseGlover’s physical
exam of the abdomen and pelvikl. NurseGlover ordered #esticular ultrasoundld. Nurse

GloveralsoprescribedTlylenol for Rowe’s thumb pain because Rowported that Tylenol had

10



provided relief of his symptomdd. NurseGlover had no othanvolvement in Rowe’s medical
care related to his complaints of right thumb pdah.

Dr. Ippel was not aware of, and did not receive, any letteRF6Cs submitted by Rowe
from August 4, 2016 through OctoberZ®16. Dkt. 80-3, § 9. Dr. Ippel was not aware that Rowe
was not receivingrey benefit fromthe heat programid., § 10.

NurseBrubaker was not aware of any email correspondence in January 2017 ¢tnemy
time period) betweeiNurse Coomer and\urseDillow regarding Rowe’SChronic Care Clinic
appointments Dkt. 80-6, I 7.NurseBrubaker did not review Rowe’s medical recorddamuary
or February 20171d., 1 9.

It wasNurseCoomer’s practice to document her review of RFHC forms by affixing her
signatureor initials to the documentDkt. 80-4, § 16. If her signature or initials are not on the
document, shdid not review it.Id. From August 5, 2016 through May 11, 2017, Rowe submitted
a totalof sixteen (16) RFHC formdd., § 17.Only three of the sixteetomplainedf thumb pain.

Id. From October 4, 2016 through January 2017, Rowe subniatecdRFHC formsid.,  18.
Only one complained of thumb paind. Nurse Coomerreviewed three of these forms; two
regarding the Prilosec prescription and one regarding thumblgaiNurseCoomeris notaware
of any otheRFHC formsRowe submitted during this time periofd.

Nurse Brubaker and Nurse Glover had no involvement in scheduling Chronic Care Clinic
appointments for patients, including Rowe. Dkt. 80-6, | 8; dkt. 80-7, 8. Nurse Brubaker had no
personal involvement in Rowe’s medical care and treatment regardingttithumb injury and
complaints of pain. Dkt. 80-6, | 5.

Nurse Wehrley did not prescribe medication for patients and did not diagnose patients or

determine what medical treatment was appropriate. Dkt, §B.

11



Nurse Wehrley did netand could net-make treatment decisions for Rowéd. HSA
Miller had no involvement in scheduling patients for the Chronic Care Clinic or provider
appointments and she did not supervise the nurses and doctors treating Rowe. Dkt. 80-8, 1 6. As
the HSA, patients would swetimes addred®RFHC forms toher, however, that did not mean that
she would receive them or that she was aware that a patient had addressed a RFHGdorm to
Id. RFHCforms are submitted to the medical department and responded to by nursintgstaff.
As an administrator, HSA Miller did not typically review and respondféiCforms. Id.

Douglas Beitler, Alicia Coomer, and Amber Dillow did sednd could net-make
treatment decisions for Rowe. Dkt.-801 5;dkt. 804, | 5;dkt. 85, 5. Only a provider could
do that. Nurse Beitler wamt “in charge” of nurse sick call in the Annex in August 2016, or any
other time. Dkt. 80-2, 1 3. There were other nurses who worked in the Adnex.

B. Expert Opinion of Dr. Kevin Krembs

Kevin KrembsM.D. is a licensed physician in the state of WisconSieeDkt. 80-10. Dr.
Krembs obtained his medical degree in 2002 from the National University ahdrah Cork,
Ireland. Dr. Krembs was licensed to practice medicine in the state of Indiana @@6ét@2015.
Id. Dr. Krembs worked as a treating physician at the Westville Correctiongity-an Indiana
from 2010 to 20141d., 1 4. Since 2014, Dr. Krembs has worked for the Stat@isconsin as a
physician and Medical Director at the Raciner€ctional Institute in Sturtevantyisconsin.d.

Dr. Krembswas retained by the defendants to reviRawe’sIDOC medical recordslid.,
1 5. Specifically, Dr. Krembs reviewed the recop#staining to the medical care and treatment
provided byNurse Melissa Wehrley, Dr. Bruce IppeNurseBarbara BrubakenNurse Jeffrey
Glover, NurseAlicia Coomer,Nurse Amber Dillow, Nurse DouglasBeitler, andHSA Megan

Miller, pertaining to Rowe’s thumb injury and complaints of thumb p&in.

12



Based on his review of the recoy. Krembsconcluded thaHSA Miller and Nurse
Brubaker had nevolvement in Rowe’s medical care and treatment related to his thumb injury or
complaintsof thumb painld.

Further, in his medical opinigtNurseWehrley,Dr. Ippel, NurseGlover,NurseCoomer,
Nurse Dillow, and Nurse Beitler's medical care and treatment of Row#ismb injury and
complaints of thumb pain was reasonable, appropriate, and withappiieable standard of care
for physicians, nurse practitioners, and nursing undecitbemstancesld., { 6.

Additionally, in his medical opinion, Rowe did not suffer any physical harm or further
damage tdis thumb as a result of the medical care renderddose Wehrley, Dr. Ippel, Nurse
Glover, Nurse Coomer, Nurse Dillow, and Nurse Beitkter.

Finally, in his medical opinion, Rowe’s thumb injury likely consisted of a sprainedrfle
of the thumb. This type of injury does not require intensive physical therapy orysurger

C. Facts in Dispute

The following facts are those that are in dispute, but are not necessarilahaaieido not
necessarilcreate a genuine issue of fact that would preclude summary judgment.

Disputed Fact 1Nurse Wehrleyestifiesshe provided Rowe with Tylenol pursuant to Dr.

Ippel’s telephone ordemd. at 1, but Rowe disputes that he received any Tylasal result othis
appointment, dkt. 78-1 at 4.

Disputed Fad 2: Rowetestifiesthat between August 8, 2016, and late September 2016,

he submitted at least filRFHC, two letters, and a grievance to Dr. Ippel requesting to be seen and
treated for his right thumb injury. Dkt. 78 at 6, dkt:I78t 1B. Nurse BeitletestifiesthatRowe
did not send any RFHCs relating to his right thumb between August 5, 2016, and August 29, 2016,

and that Rowe never resubmitted his RFHC. Dki28% 7. Rowe alsaestifiesthat between

13



August 10, 2016, and late September 2016, Rowerk@AtMiller at least three letters informing

her of his right thumb injury and asking for Heslp to be seen. Dkt. 78 at 6; dkt-T&t 173.

Rowe thenestifiesthat between about October 10, 2016, and early February 2017, he submitted

at least five additional RFHC and letters to Dr. Ippel to report that heat waslpiagheith his

pain. Dkt. 78 at 6; dkt. 78 at 173. Rowe aldestifiesthat between October 3, 2016, and middle

of February 2017, Rowe sent at least five lettetd$& Miller to inform her that heat treatment

was not helping with his thumb injury and asking to be seen. 7Bkat 7; dkt. 78L at 173. He

testifieshe never received a response. Dkt. 78 at 7. Rowe additidastlfiesthat between

October 4, 2016, and about the middle of January 2017, Rowe submitted five RFHCs to Nurse

Coomer about being seen for his right thumb injury, and she failed to do so. Dkt. 78 at 7.
Defendants assert there is no evidence that Rowe notified Dr. Ippel, or any adiezl me

personnel at the prison, that he continued to have pain or stiffness in his thumb until hig Januar

23, 2017 RFHC. Dkt. 8010 at 3. Defendants also asséiere is no evidence that any of these

individuals received Rowe’s correspondence or tihey reviewed and read his correspondence.

Dkt. 89 at 11.

Disputed FacB: Rowetestifiesthat Nurse Bill Smith told him Nurse Smigut Rowe’s

RFHC in the Nurse Sick Call Stack (that Nurse Doug Beitler “hand@d’August 8, 2016. Dkt.
86 at 78. Defendants indicate that they are unsure who put Rowe’s RFHC in the NurselBick Ca
Stack. Seedkt. 80 at 8, dkt. 80-2, 1 7.

Disputed Factl: Rowe asserts that Doug Beitler was “in chargieNurse Sick Call on M

and O units in August 2016. Dkt. 78 at 5. Nurse Bet#stifieshe was never “in charge” of

Nurse Sick Call in the Annex. Dkt. 80-2, 4.

14



Disputed Fact: Rowe asserts that Nur&eitler delayed reviewing and responding to

Rowe’s August 5, 201RFHC “which was sent on August 8, 2016,” and refused to see Rowe in
response to that RFHC and Rowe’s otR&HCs letters and grievanceDkt. 86 at 16. Nurse

Beitler asserts he did not review RFHC form #329158 until August 29, 2016. DRt.18D.

When Nurse Beitler reviewed RFHC form #329158, he informed Rowe he should resubmit a
RFHC if he was still experiencing pain and asserts he was not refusegRowe. Id.; see also

dkt. 89 at 15.

Disputed Fac6: Rowe asserts that Nurgeitler is known to lie, to cover legal liability

for others and possibly his own legal liabilitpkt. 86 at 16. In support, Rowe cites to an affidavit
of Joseph Hartsock araah email. However, the evidence Rowe citdaite toestablish that Nurse
Beitler has a history of lyingr is known to lie to cover legal liability for others and possibly his
own legal liability.

Disputed Fact 7 Roweprovides the testimony of Joseph Hartsock, who asserts that Nurse

Beitler told him “prisoners should feel some pain and discomfort as part of their punishment for
committing crimes.’Dkt. 86 at 1617; dkt. 861, 1 15 Nurse Beitler does not offer testimp
disputing this claim, so for the purposes of the summary judgment natlgnthe Court will
accept this “fact” as true.

Disputed Fac8: Rowe asserts th@mber Dillow did not schedule Mr. Rowe on the first

available date after nursing staff refertddh to the Chronic Care Clinistating that “it defies
common sense and lodic Dkt. 86 at 23. Because this “fact” is not supported by admissible
evidence and Nurse Dillow has provided admissible evidence regarding ttalsahef Chronic

Care Clinic,the Court will not consider Rowe’s assertion as fact in its consideration.
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Disputed FacB: Rowe asserts thaloseph Hartsock, Joseph Brown, Donald Lee, and

Joshua Benge have received inadequate medical treattNDC&t Dkt. 86 at 2529. In support,
he has includedhffidavits from each individual. For the purposes of this motion, the Court will
accept as fact that each of Joseph Hartsock, Joseph Brown, Donald Lee, and JoghitaBen
had complaints about medical careNECF. A finding of constitutbnal inadequate medical
treatment is a legal determinatjohowever, and theipersonalconclusios aredisregarded
because they do not have any bearing on Rowe’s treatment
Il. Discussion

A. Eighth Amendment Deliberate Indifference Claims

Rowe has asserted Eighth Amendment deliberate indifference claims fay faitare for
his right thumb injury against Nurse Alicia Coomer, Nurse Barbara Renp®r. Bruce Ippel,
Nurse Melissa Wehrley, HSA Administrator Megan Miller, Nurse Amber Dillblurse Doug
Beitler, and Nurse Jeffery Glover and a poligsactice, orcustom claim against Corizon. Rowe
seeks summary judgment for his Eighth Amendment claims against defendantsy\@itler,
Ippell, Miller, Coomer, and Dillow, but not against defendants Brubaker, Glover oroGorihe
defendants seek summary judgment on all Eighth Amendment claims against them.

1. Deliberate Indifference Standard

Pursuant to the Eighth Amendment, prison officials have a duty to provide humane
conditions of confinement, meaning, they must take reasonable measures to guaraatietythe
of the inmates and ensure that they receive adequate food, clothing, shdlteredical care.
Farmer v. Brennan511 U.S. 825, 834 (1994)To prevail on an Eighth Amendment deliberate
indifferencemedical claim, a plaintiff must demonstrate two elements: (1) he suffered from an

objectively serious medical condition; and (2) the defendant knew about the péagaiftition
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and the substantial risk of harm it posed, but disregarded thatldslat 837;Pittman ex rel.
Hamilton v. County of Madison, 1746 F.3d 766, 775 (7th Cir. 201450mething more than
negligence or even malpractice is requirdalickworth v. Ahmads32 F.3d 675, 679 (7th Cir.
2008). A successful § 1983 plaintiff must also establish not only that a state actordvioiaite
constitutional rights, but that the violation caused the plaintiff injury or dasndgee v. Elyea
631 F.3d 843, 846 (7th Cir. 2011) (citation omitted).

“[Clonduct is ‘deliberately indifferent’ when the official has acted in r@tentional or
criminally reckless manneige., “the defendant must have known that the plaintiff ‘was @b sge
risk of being harmed [and] decided not to do anything to prevent that harm from ag@weim
though he could have easily done soBbard v. Freeman394 F.3d 469, 478 (7th Cir. 2005)
(quoting Armstrong v. Squadritol52 F.3d 564, 577 (7th Cir. 98)). “To infer deliberate
indifference on the basis of a physician’s treatment decision, the decissbitoenso far afield of
accepted professional standards as to raise the inference that it was not adedllyrba medical
judgment.” Norfleet v. Vébster 439 F.3d 392, 396 (7th Cir. 200&ee Plummer v. Wexford
Health Sources, Inc609 Fed. Appx. 861, 2015 WL 4461297, *2 (7th Cir. 2015) (holding that
defendant doctors were not deliberately indifferent because there was “no egudggesting that
the defendants failed to exercise medical judgment or responded inappropifttedypiaintiff’s]
ailments”). In addition, the Seventh Circuit has explained that “[a] medical professionatltiscenti
to deference in treatment decisions unless no naillyntompetent professional would have
[recommended the same] under those circumstan&gse’s v. Fahim771 F.3d 403, 409 (7th Cir.
2014).

“A significant delay in effective medical treatment also may support a claim of deébe

indifference, especially where the result is prolonged and unnecessary pairy’v. Peterman
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604 F.3d 435, 441 (7th Cir. 2010). delay in treatment that causes unnecessary pain is actionable
even if it did not exacerbate the injury or diminish the chances of a full reco8esyGomez v.
Randle 680 F.3d 859, 8666 (7th Cir. 2012) (holding that the plaintiff stated an Eighth
Amendment claim because “even thbuhis [fourday] delay [in treatment] did not exacerbate
[the plaintiff's] injury, he experienced prolonged, unnecessary pain aslaoea readily treatable
condition”); Arnett v. Webster658 F.3d 742, 753 (7th Cir. 2011) (“A delay in treating-hta:
threatening but painful conditions may constitute deliberate indifference datay exacerbated
the injury or unnecessarily prolonged an inmate’s pairiit)e failure to provide pain relief can,
in some instances, establish deliberate indiffereis®me McGowan v. Hulicks12 F.3d 636, 640
(7th Cir. 2010) (“A delay in treatment may constitute deliberate indifferehd¢be delay
exacerbated the injury or unnecessarily prolonged an inmate’s pd[i]he length of delay that

is tolerable depends on the seriousness of the condition and the ease of providing tte&dment
“Even a few daysdelay in addressing a severely painful but readily treatable condition suffice
state a claim of deliberate indifferencé&mith v. Knox County Jab66 E3d 1037, 1040 (7th Cir.
2012) (internal citations omittedy)pmpare Rodriguez v. Plymouth Ambulance Seréi¢é F.3d
816, 832 (2009) (state employees could be liable for-dayrdelay in treating prisoner who
complained that his IV was causing him sesigain);Grieveson v. Anderspb38 F.3d 763, 779
(7th Cir. 2008) (guards could be liable for delaying treatment of broken nose foaadlayhalf);
Edwards v. Snyded78 F.3d 827, 830-31 (7th Cir. 2007) (a plaintiff who painfully dislocated his
finger and was needlessly denied treatment for two days stated a delibdrtiggence claim,
reversing the district coud dismissalwith Gutierrez v. Petersl11 F.3d 1364, 1374 (7th Cir.

1997) (no valid claim for sixlay delay in treating a mild cyst ircfgon).
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2. Objectively Serious Medical Ne&ttandard

Rowe asserts that his right thumb injury is or was a “serious” medical need. Dkt.-78 at 7
8. Defendants disagree, asserting that Rowe’s injury did not require intensivaapthesiapy or
surgery and cdd be adequately addressed through dkiercounter medication that Rowe could
purchase on his own. Dkt. 80 at 22-23.

An objectively serious medical need is “one that has been diagnosed by agohgsidti
that requires medical treatment, or is so obvious that even a lay person wouldeeasjhyze the
necessity for a doctor’s attentionHayes v. Snydeb46 F.3d 516, 522 (7th Cir. 200@)ternal
guotations and citations omitted)Moreover, when a prisoner haa tmedical condition that
significantly affects [his] daily activities” or has “chronic and substantial palme”condition is
objectively serious.Ayoubi v. Darf No. 171662, 2018 U.S. App. LEXIS 7435, at *10 (7th Cir.
Mar. 23, 2018])citing Hayes 546 F.3d at 522)rfternalquotation omited). A medicalcondition
that causes pain can be serigughout being lifethreateningArnett v. Webster658 F.3d 742,
753 (7th Cir. 2011)tewis v. McLean864 F.3d 556563 (7th Cir. 2017) finding muscle spasms
and accompanying back pasbjectivelyserious) but “this is not to say, however, that evecha
and pain or medically recognized condition involving some discomfort can support ah Eight
Amendment claini Gutierrez 111 F.3d at 1372. As the Seventh Circuit explained,

Deliberately{] ignor[ing] a request for medical assistance has long been held to be

a form of cruel and unusual punishment, but this is provided that the illness or injury

for which assistance is sought is sufficiently serious or painful to makeftisalre

of assistance undiized. A prison’s medical staff that refuses to dispense bromides

for the sniffles or minor aches and pains or a tiny scratch or a mild heaolache

minor fatigue-the sorts of ailments for which many people who are not in prison

do not seek medical attémn--does not by its refusal violate the Constitution. The

Constitution is not a charter of protection for hypochondriacs. But the fact that a

conditiondoes not produceobjective”symptoms does not entitle the medical staff

to ignore it. ... Rin, fatigueand other subjective, nonverifiable complaints are in
some cases the only symptoms of a serious medical condition.
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Cooper v. Case\7 F.3d 914, 9147 (7th Cir. 1996{internal citations omitted). Of relevance is
the state of mind of the prison offitsa- even if an injury may later turn out to not be serious, if
the injuriesappear to be serious, prompt medical attention must be proviBedis v. Jones936

F.2d 971, 972 (7th Cir. 1991). The following is a +exaustive list of instances where the
SeventhCircuit has held that condition was not a serious medical need under the Eighth

Amendment:

e Vomiting was not a serious medical need, although the inmate’s heart condition, CHF, was
Gayton v. McCoy593 F.3d 610 (7th Cir. 2010);

e A split lip anda swollen cheek did not rise to the level of an objectively serious medical
need Pinkston v. Madry440 F.3d 879, 891 (7th Cir. 2006);

e Breathing problems, chest pains, dizziness, sinus problems, headaches, and a laps of ener
as a result of exposure secondhand smoke was not an objectively serious injury or
medical need that amounts to a denial of “the minimal civilized measure of life’'s
necessities Henderson v. Sheahah96 F.3d 839, 846 (7th Cir. 199@uotingFarmer,

511 U.S. at 834);

e A toewhose toenail had been removed did not constita&iaus medical need, although
it was,no doubt, painful.Snipes v. DeTel|e5 F.3d 586, 591 n.1 (7th Cir. 1996)

e A mild case of asthma (which was allegedly exacerbated by séemubtobacco smoke)
did not rise to the level of seriousness sufficiensupport a claim for reliefOliver v.
Deen 77 F.3d 156 (7th Cir. 1996)

¢ A oneinch laceration to an arrestegemple, that was neither deep enough or long enough
to require stitches, and a scrapduab&l did not require prompt medical attention under the
Eighth AmendmentDavis v. Jone936 F.2d 971, 972-73 (7th Cir. 1991); and

e Failure to treat a common cold did not constitute deliberate indifference to a serious
medical need Gibson v. McEver531 F.2d 95 (7th Cir. 1980).

On the other hand, the Seventh Circuit has held a variety of medical conditions as
objectively serious.See, e.g Lewis 864 F.3d at 568muscle spasms and accompanying back
pain); Simpson v. Gorbet863 F.3d 740, 747 (7th Cir. 201(bpesity andalcoholism);Whiting v.
Wexford Health Sources, In@B39 F.3d 658 (7th Cir. 2016) (cancer/lymphon@hatham v.

Davis, 839 F.3d 679 (7th Cir. 2016) (fatal asthma attaglk)a v. Sood836 F.3d 800 (7th Cir.
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2016) (broken wrist)Conley v. Birch 796 F.3d 742, 7445, 747 (7th Cir. 2015) (fracturddhnd);
Perez v. Fenoglior92 F.3d 768, 774, 776 (7th Cir. 2015) (torn ligament in hand, dislocated thumb,
tissue damage, and open wourfdiffman v. County oMadison, 746 F.3d 766 (7th Cir. 2014)
(suicide);Smego v. Mitchell723 F.3d 752 (7th Cir. 2013) (cavities in twelve teelagkson v.
Pollion, 733 F.3d 786 (7th Cir. 2013) (hypertensidBinzalez v. Feinerma663 F.3d 311 (7th
Cir. 2011) (hernia)Arnett v. Webstel658 F.3d 7427th Cir. 2011) (rheumatoid arthritigroe v.
Elyea 631 F.3d 843 (7th Cir. 2011) (hepatitis Bgrry v. Peterman604 F.3d 435 (7th Cir. 2010)
(tooth decay)Duckworth v. Ahmadb32 F.3d 675 (7th Cir. 2008)ross hematuriafdwards v.
Snyder 478 F.3d 827 (7th Cir. 2007) (broken fingeMorfleetv. Webster439 F.3d 392, 3945
(7th Cir. 2006) (arthritis)O’Malley v. Litscher 465 F.3d 799, 805 (7th Cir. 2006) (minor burns
resulting from lying in vomit)Estate of Johnson v. Dough#33 F.3d 1001100304 (7th Cir.
2006) (hernia)Greeno v. Daley414 F.3d 645 (7th Cir. 2005) (severe heartburn and frequent
vomiting); Sherrod v. Lingle223 F.3d 605 (7th Cir. 2000) (inflamed append&havez v. Cady
207 F.3d 901 (7th Cir. 2000) (perforated append®dlston v. McGovernl67 F.3d 1160, 1161
62 (7th Cir. 1999) (cancer that caused blisteriRped v. McBridel78 F.3d 849, 853 (7th Cir.
1999) (denial of doctoprescribed medicine led to agonizing axtreme pain, internal bleeding,
violent cramps and periods of unconsciousnég4$sgitson v. McHugh148 F.3d 859, 863 (7th Cir.
1998) (unmedicated epilepsygollignon v. Milwaukee County,63 F.3d 982 (7th Cir. 1998)
(mental illness that led to suicid&utierrez 111 F.3dat 1370(hairy cyst);Cooper v.Casey 97
F.3d 914 (7th Cir. 1996) (cuts, severe muscular pain, and burning sensatioraie’seyes and
skin); Duncan v. Duckworth644 F.2d 653, 6547th Cir. 1981) (broken wrist) The Seventh
Circuit also hasrecognized that delays in treating Ade-threatening but painful conditions

constitute a failure to address a serious medical t&atitrrez 111 F.3d at 137XEdwards 478
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F.3d at 831 (holding that a plaintiff who dislocated his finger and was forced to wadtiys for
treatment, leading to the infliction of unnecessary pain, permanent disfigurantethe loss of
range of motion, suffered a painful medical condition and stated an Eighth Amendaiem)
O’Malley, 465 F.3cht805 (pain from minor burns which resulted from plaintiff lying in vofoit
about two hours Smith v. Knox County Jab66 F.3d 1037, 1040 (7th Cir. 2012) (holding that an
inmate who was bleeding, vomiting, suffered retinal or corneal damage, and enduresseand
severe paiffior five dayssuffered from an “serious, readily treatable condition”).

3. Rowe’s Right Thumb Injury

Here, Rowe injured higght thumbl an injury that was ultimately diagnosed as a “soft
tissue injury’ At the onset, it is debatable whether Rowe’s injury was “so obvious that even a lay
person would easily recognize the necessity for a doctor’s attention,” bundisputed that Nurse
Wehrley saw Rowe on the same day as his injury. When Nurse Wsawegowe, on August 4,
2016, Rowe had an active range of motion, no significant tenderness, no swelling, ing,anc
no signs of displacementsigns that his right thumb imjpwas not “objectively serious” #was
likely not broken or fractured. Nurse Wehrley applied an Ace wrap to Rowe’shaght which,
according to Rowe, provided “immediate improvement in comfort.”

Shortly thereafter, though, Rowe submittedRBHC stating ‘My hand/thumb is very
bruised (purple) and it hurts a lot, and | can’t move it! | need to be seen and giveniisgrioe
my pain ASAP! Under these circumstances, whether or not Rowe’s thumb was actually bruised
and purple and unable to be moveddascribed in the written reque®owe’spainful thumb
injury would likely be considered to be “objectively serious.” Moreover, a delay in gdatn

pain couldconstitute a failure to address a serious medical n@etlerrez 111 F.3d at 1371.
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However, by October 3, 2016, when Dr. Ippel saw Rowe regarding his thuomle'R
thumb hadmostly gotten better, but remain[ed] sore and somewhat stiff and a littleesWdDr.

Ippel obtained an-xay of the thumb, which revealed no fracture, dislocation, or other abnormality.
Although Rowe asserts that he was experiencing someptirs timg Rowe’s pain seems more
akin to “minor aches and pains-:the sorts of ailments for which many people who are not in
prison do not seek medical attentiahscussedn Cooper 97 F.3d at 9147. Indeed, Rowe’s
assertion is that heamted Tylenol, and not some sort of stronger pain medication, to relieve his
pain. “Tylenol (acetaminophen) is not amtflammatory...lt does not help reduce swelling or
inflammation. Instead, acetaminophen works by blocking your brain from redesgbsinces

that cause the feeling of pain. It relieves minor aches and pains from:,Jcetuts] throats],]
headaches and migraines[,] body or muscle aches[,] menstrual crampsfjsg}ttoothaches.”
https://www.healthline.com/health/paialief/is-tylend-antrinflammatory#about-tylencknd
acetaminophenThus, where hisight thumb was verified by-xay to not have suffered a serious
injury and where his only complaint wakroniccontinued pain, no reasonable jury would find
that Rowe’s thumb was “olbgévely serious at this time.

Indeed, in his future visits, nothing about Rowe’s thumb condition would signify that his
condition was “objectively serious.” In January 23, 2017, when Nurse Coomer saw Rowe, whil
there was still some swelling and limitexhge of motion to Rowe’s thumb, there was no weakness,
discoloration, spasm, tingling, or numbness noted and his vitals were normal.aRodie not
complain about his thumb during his March 2, 2017, anweatihess visit with Nurse Qumner.
During his April 19, 2017 appointmentvith Nurse Wigal, he complained about thumb pain, but
reported that heat treatment had provided mild relief of symptoms. On May 4, 2017, Nwese Gl

saw Rowe about other problems, such as the lump on his left testicle and his gasigezdoph
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reflux diseases, both of far more concern to the usual layperson. Rowe also compldinediof ¢

right thumb pain, but this sort of pain does not rise to the level of “objectively serious.”
Furthermore, even if we were to assunwg, durposes of argument only, tiRdwe has

indeed established an objectively serious medical aéed the October 3, 2016, appointment

Rowestill needs to demonstrate that defendavese deliberately indifferent to that neechich

is explained in ma detail below

4. Claim against Nurse Wehrley

Rowe asserts that Nurse Wehrley was deliberately indiffereriilorg to provide him
with Tylenol as prescribed by Dr. Ippel on August 4, 2016. Dkt. 78 aéRa@e alleges that Nurse
Wehrley’s failure to preide Tylenol as prescribed by Dr. Ippelpsr sedeliberate indifference,
citing to various Seventh Circuit casdd. (citing Estellev. Gamble 429 U.S. 97, 1005 (1976)
(“intentionally interfering with the treatment once prescribed” amountslibetate indifference);
Ralston v. McGovernl67 F.3d 1160, 1162 (7th Cir. 1999) (failure to provide prescribed pain
medication for the pain of cancer and cancer treatment “borders on the bdjbdviauphy v.
Walker, 51 F.3d 714, 720 (7th Cir. 1995) (failuxeprovide prescribed Tylenol for broken hand
amounts to deliberate indifference)). Nurse Wehrley asserts that siseprappropriate medical
care and that she applied an Ace bandage to Rowe’s right hand, which provided immediate
improvement in comfort. Dkt. 80 at 26. She also asserts that she did in fact provide Tigdenol.

Dr. Krembs, defendants’ expert witness, opined that Nurse Wehrley's response
examination, and use of Ace wrap, was appropriate. His opinion is consistent with gdrdanc
the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgedhat statesvhen an acute sefissue injury
occurs, such as here with Rowe’s right thumb, “initial treatment with t6& Rfotocol is usually

very effective. RICE stands for Rest, Ice, Compression, and Hlevat
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https://orthoinfo.aaos.org/en/diseasesnditions/sprainstrainsandothersoft-tissueinjuries/

Nurse Wehrley applied an Ace bandage (for compression) to Rowe’s right hand pvadvicted
immediate improvement in comfort, and Rowe has not disputed that Nurse Wehrley provided the
Ace bandage or that it provided an improvement in comfort. Rather, he assedgunertd
provide Tylenol as prescribed was deliberate indifference to his “seriousaineeed.”

Although there s a dispute as tohether Nurse Wehrley actually provided Tylenol to
Rowe, the Court does not find the disputed fact to be material. Reiteratinganid@rst for
deliberate indifference, Rowe must show $igfered from an objeistely serious medical
condition, andNurse Wehley knew abouhis condition and the substantial risk of harm it posed,
but disregarded that risk. Construing the claims and evidence in Rowe’s favor, Ravedsuff
from pain from his injured right thumb, and Nurse Wehrley knew about the pain, butdbercey
as presented does not show that Nurse Wehrley disregarded that risk. Rather, Nulsg We
applied the Ace bandage to relieve the pain, and it did, in fact, reliene of Rowe’s pain. She
also told Rowe to file RFHCIf the pain did not resolvigself. Unlike inMurphy, 51 F.3d at 720,
where the correctial officers intentionally withheld extratrength Tylenol from the inmate for
his broken hand injury, Rowe has failed to show that Nurse Wehrley intentionally withiiehol
from him. Moreover, the Tylenol he so adamantly wanted was notsxéregth Tylenol to be
provided four times per dafas inMurphy), but just regular Tylenol readily available from the
commissary.

Because no reasonable jury would find Nurse Wehrley to be deliberately indifferent
Rowe’s “serious medical neegtimmary judgment on thitaimfor Rowe is denied and for Nurse

Wehrleyis granted.
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5. Claim against Nurse Beitler

Rowe asserts that Nurse Blerr was deliberately indifferent for improperly delaying
treatment after Rowe’s August 5, 20F8~HC. Dkt. 78 at 1411. Nurse Beitler asserts that he
was not deliberately indifferent and his limited involvement was entirely apatepiDkt. 80 at
26.

On or about August 5, 2016, Rowe submitted RFHE2%158, which stated, relevantly,
“My hand/thumb is very bruised (purple) and it hurts a lot, and | can’t move it! | needseebe
and given something for my pain ASAP! Thanks!” Dkt-180at 4. On the form, a notation in
the middle section on the lgfland side indicated that the form was triaged on August 8, 2016, and
Rowe was referred to nursing sick cdfl. Nurse Beitler did not review Rowe’s RFHC form until
August 29, 2016.1d. He asserts #t Rowe did not send any other RFHCs between August 5,
2016, and the date of his revie®eeadkt. 80 at 8. Nurse Beitler wrote “Resubmitt [sic] if present,”
and returned the RFHC form to RowéResubmit if presenhtapparentlyinstructedRowe to
resubmita RFHC if his symptoms were still present. Rowe asserts he was not sentod it
response. Dkt. 78 at 5.

As explained previously, as described in the RFHC, Rowe’s thojuky at this time
would likely be considered to be “objectively serious*@ven a lay person would easily recognize
the necessity for a doctor’s attention” if a thumb was purple and immovaeéeHaye$H46 F.3d
at 522. Moreover, the medical staff, including Nurse Beitler, did not respond to RoweG RFH
until 24 days after he submitted the request. Such a delay in treating his painacwtitlite a
failure to address a serious medical ne@dtierrez 111 F.3d at 1371.

There are several material disputes of fact, specifically disputed fdats Section 11(Q

above, that preclude summary judgment for both parties here. First, alth@mughdisputed that
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Nurse Beitler did not review Rowe’s RFHC forthere is a material and unanswered question as
to when Nurse Beitler was first aware of Rowe’s RFHC farohshould have reviewed his form.
It is immaterial that Rowe did not submit additional forms between August 5 andtAR%gug
is fair to say that once Rowe submitted a form requesting urgent health care, hesxpé ¢hetion
that he did not need to submit regular continued requesteeame issueSee, e.gParzyck v.
Prison Health Servs. Inc627 F.3d 1215, 1219 (11th C2010) (prisoner “not required to initiate
another round of the administrative grievance process on the exact same issue &aeh tim
deprivation occurred)The defendants have not presented any evidence that IDOC policy required
or encouraged the submission of duplicative requests.

Second, there is a dispute as to whether Nurse Beitler was “in charge” of ghsiokill
in the Annex in August 2016, and thued a responsibility to review Rowe’s RFHThird, Rowe
asserts that Nurse Beitler believes that “prisoners should feel some paincamdfalisas part of
their punishment for committing crimes.” Dkt. 86 atllB He also asserts thhlurse Beitler is
known to lie, to cover legal liability for others and possibly his own legal ligbiltkt. 86 at 16.

Even assuming that Nurse Beitlgas not responsible for the -B&y delay in responding
to Rowe’s RFHC form, there is a material dispute as to whdtlnese Beitler's response
“resubmit, if present” was appropriate care. There is also a dispute as to \iRmtiearvas injured
by the delay because he had the Ace bandage and access to Tylenol from commistaay isuch
is unclear what additional reliebuld have been provided for his soft tissue injury.

Although Dr. Krembs opined in his expert report that Nurse Beitler provided rédsona
and appropriate care, dkt.-80 at 2, his opinion is based on an assessment that “[i]t appears Mr.
Rowe was unavable when LPN Beitler attempted to evaluate him in response to RFHC. LPN

Beitler appropriately instructed Mr. Rowe to resubmit the request wheahawailable.”ld. at
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3. Because the factual record on summary judgment does not reflect the factualf lisi
Krembs’s expert opinion, the Court will not consider Dr. Krembs’s expert opiniatinglto
Nurse Beitler for purposes of this motion.

Accordingly,summary judgment on this claim foothRoweand Nurse Beitleis denied.

6. Claim against Dr. Ipgl

Roweasserts that Dr. Ippel was deliberately indifferent for failing to presdnienol for
his pain and for failing to respond to various communications. Dkt. 78 at 11. Dr. Ippéd asse
that he provided appropriate care to Roweis testimony isupported byDr. Krembs'’s expert
opinion that Dr. Ippel provided reasonable and appropriate medical care, and Rowe diténot suf
any physical harm or further damage to his thumb as a result of the medical daredéy Dr.
Ippel. In addition, Dr. Ipel stateshe had no reason to revidRFHCsor grievances as that was
not part of his job duties. Dkt. 80 at 27. In response, Rowe clarifieithataim against Dr.
Ippel “is not about Rowe’s disagreement with Ippel’s decision to try heatneag aghat does
not create liability,” dkt. 86 at 19, but instead is about Dr. Ippel’s alleged delay ieamogfRowe
until October 2016 and failing to respond after the October 2016 appointdent20. Dr. Ippel
asserts that there is no evidence thatelseived Rowe’s correspondence or that he reviewed and
read his correspondence. Dkt. 89 at 11.

First, as explained above in SectionA)J(3), Rowe was not suffering from a serious
medical conditionin October 2016, which Dr. Ippel confirmed with amay. MoreoverRowe
has failed to show that Dr. Ippel “knew about [Rowe]'s condition and the substantial haknof
it posed.” Farmer, 511 U.S. at 834 (deliberate indifference occurs when an official “knows of and
disregards an excessive risk to inmate health or safety; the officialbwilssbe aware of facts

from which the inference could be drawn that a substantial risk of serious hatsnaxbke must
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also draw the inferenc§ (emphasis added)There is no evidence that Dr. Ippel actually read
Rowe’s communications or had any subjective awareness of Rowe’s condition. dantizey,
there is evidence that Dr. Ippel was not aavaf Rowe’s communications. Dkt. &) § 9.
Accordingly, summary judgment on this issue for Rowe is denied and for Dr. Igpahigd.

7. Claim againsHSA Miller

Rowe asserts th&tSA Miller was deliberately indifferent for failing to respond to vasou
communicationdetween August and October 2016. Dkt. 78 al21 HSA Miller asserts that
she did notypical reviewor respond to requests for healthcare, and was only responsible for
responding to informal grievances, which she did immediately whenass made aware on
October 3, 2016, that Rowe had injured his thumb. Dkt. 80-21.3BISA Miller asserts that there
is no evidence that she received Rowe’s correspondence or that she revieweddanid rea
correspondence. Dkt. 89 at 11.

The Court agees— Rowe has failed to show th&iSA Miller “knew about [Rowe]'s
condition and the substantial risk of harm it posdeéhtmer, 511 U.S. at 834There is no evidence
thatHSA Miller actually read Rowe’s communications or had any subjective awareriReset
condition. However, Rowe correctly notegedkt. 86 at 18, thatiSA Miller has not explicitly
said that she did not receive or review Rowe’s communications or presented anyecthdeshbe
was not aware of Rowe’s communicatiof&ather HSA Miller states relevantly the following:

As theHSA, patients would sometimes address Request for Healthcare (“RFHC”)

forms to me; however, that did not mean that | would receive them or that | was

aware that a patient had addressed a RFHC form to me. Request for Healthcare
forms are submitted to the medical department and responded to by nursing staff.

As an administrator, | did not typically review and respond to Request for

Healthcare forms.

Dkt. 80-8 at 2. Accepting Rowe’s version of facts as truegasonable trier of fact could possibly

conclude thatHSA Miller was aware of correspondence from Rowe, was aware of Rowe’s
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condition, and knew that the delay in arranging for Rowe to see a provider would causeaddit
pain to Rowe. However, a reasonable trier of fact could also conclude otherwiseth&reis a
material dispute precluding summary judgment as to whd#sXx Miller knew of Rowe’s
communications. Accordingly, summary judgment on this issue for both RowdSxdMiller

is denied.

8. Claim against Nurse Coomer

Rowe asserts that Nurse Coomer was deliberately indifferent fergfadirespond to the
five RFHCs he submitted to her between October 4, 28idthe middle of January 2017. Dkt.
78 at 12. Nurse Coomer responds that she proagpepriate medical care and there is no proof
that she reviewed and failed to respond to any of Rowe’'s RFHCs. Dkt. 828t 2% reply,
Rowe newly raises the assertion that Nurse Coomer failed to provideoagganedical care by
failing to provide Tylenol and scheduling him for an appointment with a provider. Dkt. 86 at 21
22. Rowe’s newly raised arguments will be considered only in responsealdefs’ motion for
summary judgment but not as part of his motion of summary judgn&ed.Griffin v. Bell694
F.3d 817, 822 (7th Cir. 2012) (“arguments raised for the first time in a reply brief anedlee
waived”); Hernandez v. Cook Cnty. Sheriff's Offié84 F.3d 906, 913 (7th Cir. 2011) (same);
United States v. Foste652 F.3d 776 n. 5 (7th Cir.2001) (“The reply brief is not the appropriate
vehicle for presenting new arguments or legal theories to the court.”).

Beginning with Rowe’s assertion that Nurse Coomer failed to respond to RFHCs and thus
inappropriately delayed treatment of his right thumb injury, Nurse Coassers that there is no
evidence thashereceived Rowe’s correspondenitem October 4, 2016, and the middle of
January 20179r that she reviewed and retibseRFHCs. Dkt. 89 at 11. The Court agrees

Rowe has failed to show that Nurse Coomer “knew about [Rowe]’s condition and the sabstanti
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risk of harm it posedturing the period between October 4, 2016, and the middle of January 2017.
Farmer, 511 U.S. at 834There is no evidence thiiurse Coomeactually read Rowe’alleged
communications or had any subjective awareness of Rowe’s condArordingly, summary
judgment on thisssuefor Rowe is deniednd for Nurse Coomer is granted

Nurse Coomer argues summary judgment in her favor is appropriate because siagl provi
appropriate medical care. She saw Rowe on January 23, 2017, and instructed Rowe to apply heat
for discomfort and to submit a RFHC if his symptoms did not subside. She also scheduled him
see a provider with the Chronic Care Clinic. Dkt180at 1416. This testimony is supported by
Dr. Krembs’s expert opinion that Nurse Coomer provided reasonable and appropdatal me
care, and Rowe did not suffer any physical harm or further damage to his thumb asd tiesul
medical care rendered bjurse Coomer.

Rowe asserts Nurse Coomer failed to provide Tylenol for his complaints of pain. Dkt. 78
at 7. Although Nurs€oomerdoes not dispute that she did not give Tylenol to Rowe, Nurse
Coomerarguesshe did not call the provider for same-day orders because Rowe’s thumb pain was
chronic in nature, and he had previously been seen for the injury by Dr. Ippel anchiitaken
in October 2016 was normal. Dkt.-80911. Additionally, Rowe could have purchased ever
thecounter pain relievers from the commissary, which would be appropriate forcheoni Id.
Indeed, the record reflects that Rowe procured Tylenol on his own at some pgbmitvihe
assistance of medical staff. Dkt.-80 at 30-33.

Moreover as explained above in SectionAl)(3), Rowe was not suffering from a serious
medical condition, which Dr. Ippel confirmed on October 3, 2016 with-eayx Nurse Coomer
did not see Rowe until after theray of his thumb was taken. Additionally, the Court finds that a

reasonable jury would not find Nurse Coomer’s failure to provide Tylenol, whiclwealable to
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and was actually procured by Rowe through other means, was deliberdtrendié to Rowe’s
pain, where Nurse Coomer suggested that he continue heat treatment lated ihdicated it
provided some reliefA reasonable jurywould also nofind Nurse Coomer’s referral of Rowe to
a Chronic Care Clinic for his chronic thumb pain to be deliberate indiffereAceordingly,
summary judgment for Nurse Coomer is granted.

9. Claim againsiNurseDillow

Rowe asserts that NurBsllow was deliberately idifferent for failing totimely schedule
Rowe for a Chronic Care Clinic visit, and not rescheduling him when he failed to makdian
appointment. Dkt. 78 d2. Nurse Dillowasserts thathe appropriately scheduled Rowe for the
next available dateShe further asserts that she was unawatg April of 2017that Rowe was
transferred and thus did not make his appointment. She then timely scheduled him for the next
available date. Finally, she argues Rowe was not harmed by the delay in his schadutéd C
Care Clinic visit. Dkt. 80 at 289. In reply, Roweargues that it “defies” logic that despite being
referred to the Chronic Care Clinic on January 20, 2017, he was not seen until May 4, 2017. He
also asserts the delay in treatment caused hdmene he suffered from pain. Dkt. 86 at 23-24.

Rowe was not suffering from a serious medical condition, which Dr. Ippel confirmed on
October 3, 2018with an xray, and which Nurse Coomer confirmed during her January 23, 2017
examination of Rowe when she noted no discoloration, heat, spasm, tingling, or numbness in his
thumb. Thus, summary judgment for Nurse Dillow is appropriate. However, even if Rowe
somehow established an objectively serious medical need, he was compaming delay in
being sen at a Chronic Cal@linic, an appointment that occurs approximately every three months
for chronic pain that is being actively managed. He fails to show that NurseDidhew about

[Rowe]'s condition and the substantial risk of harm it posEdriner, 511 U.S. at 834, where the
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totality of her knowledge of his condition was “ccc/thumb pai®éeDkt. 80-5 at 8. He was
eventually seen about three months after he was initially referred to the €Geori Clinic- he
fails to show that the delay wasappropriately long, beyond arguing that it “defies” logic he was
not seen sooner, or that any delay caused harm. Accordingly, summary judgnfRoive is
deniedand summary judgment for Nurse Dillow is granted

10. Claim against Nurse Brubaker

Nurse Brubaker asserts that summary judgment in her favor is appropriatsddice
undisputed evidence establishes that she had no personal involvement in Rowe’s medaadl car
personal involvement is required for Section 1983 liability. Rowe does not appear to dispate Nurs
Brubaker’s assertion as she is not mentioned in his response or suSegikt. 86; dkt. 91.

“Individual liability under 8§ 1983... requires personal involvement in the alleged
constitutional deprivation.Colbert v. City of @icago,851 F.3d 649, 657 (7th Cir. 2017) (internal
guotation omitted) (citing/NVolf-Lillie v. Sonquist 699 F.2d 864, 869 (7th Cir. 1983) (“Section
1983 creates a cause of action based on personal liability and predicated upon fault. An individua
cannot be held liable in a § 1983 action unless he caused or participated in an allegedamadstitut
deprivation.... A causal connection, or an affirmative link, between the misconduct cohplaine
and the official sued is necessary."Because Nurse Brubakeas not personally involved in any
alleged constitutional deprivation against Rowe, summary judgment against Nubskdris
granted

11. Claim against Nurse Glover

Nurse Glover asserts that summary judgment in his favor is appropriate éod¢baus
undisputé evidence establishes that he had no personal involvement in Rowe’s medical care prior

to May 4, 2017, and he provided appropriate care during that visit. Rowe does not appear to
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dispute Nurse Glover’s assertion as he is not mentioned in Rowe’s response or sGereqy.
86, dkt. 91.

Because Nurse Brubaker was not perdgnaivolved in any alleged constitutional
deprivation against Rowsege Colbert851F.3dat 657, summary judgment against Nurse Glover
is granted

12. Claim against Corizon

Corizon a&serts that summary judgment in its favor is appropriate because Rowe failed to
raise factual allegations to suppbis claimthat Corizon maintained a policy, practice, or custom
that caused his alleged injuries. In his Amended Complaint, Rowe allegedotiminChad a
wide-spread custom of excessively delaying medical care to patients at NCCF andstibris cu
caused delay in his medical treatment related to his thumb injury. Dkt. 39-1 at 7.

Corizon is “treated the same as a municipality for liability purposes under § 1988.”
Minix v. Canarecci597 F.3d 824, 832 (7th Cir. 2010) (holding that a corporation that contracted
with a jail to provide health services is “treated the same as municipalities for liabrjyges in
a § 1983 action”)Fromer v. Corizon, Ing 54 F. Supp. 3d 1012, 1027 (S.D. Ind. 2014)t i§
well-established that there is respondeat superidiability under § 1983 Fromer, 54 F. Supp.
3d at 1028 (quotingackson v. lllinois MediCar, Inc, 300 F.3d 760, 766 (7th Cir. 2002)) . “A
‘private corporation is not vicariously liable under 8§ 1983 for its employees’ depnsabf
others’ civil rights.” Id. Thus, to maintain his 8 1983 acti@gainstCorizon, Rowe‘must
demonstrate that a constitutional deprivation occurred as a result of an expregserpnigtom”
of Corizon. See id(quotation omitted). Rows required to show that a Corizon policy was the
“direct cause” of or “moving force” behind his constitutional injuRyles v. Fahim771 F.3d

403, 40910 (7th Cir. 2014).To do so, he must introduce evidence that establishes a plausible
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inference that Corizon “maintain[ed] a policy that sanction[ed] the nma@inte of prison
conditions that infring[edppon the constitutional rights of the prisoners¥oodward v. Corr.
Med. Servs.368 F.3d 917, 927 (7th Cir. 2004).

“If a plaintiff cannot identify any formal policy that is unconstitutional, therpiff may
show deliberate indifference through aries of bad acts’ creating an inference that municipal
officials were aware of and condoned the misconduct of their employEBesnier, 54 F. Supp.
3d at 1028. A plaintiff cannot rely on the circumstances surrounding his own medicaétreatm
to establib the existence of a policy or practiceee Palmer v. Marion Cnty327 F.3d 588, 597
(7th Cir. 2003) (holding that “a showing of isolated incidents does not create a gesuéasso
whether defendants have a general policy or a widespread prd@icemconstitutional nature”).
The Seventh Circuit has not adoptezhy brightline rules defining dwidespread custom or
practice™ nor is there aclear consensus as to how frequently such conduct must occur to impose
Monell liability, ‘ except that imust be more than one instan¢€osby v. Ward,843 F.2d 967,
983 (7th Cir. 1988), or even thrd&able v. City of Chicag®96 F.3d 531, 538 (7th Cir. 2002)]
(‘[T]hree incidents where vehicle owners were erroneously told that their \&elwete not Lot
6 do not amount to a persistent and widespread pragticEhiomas v. Cook Cty. Sher#fDept,

588 F.3d 445, 454 (7th Cir. 200@nternal quotation marks omitted)Occasional delays or
isolated instances of neglect, “taken alone or collectigahnot support a finding of deliberate
indifference. A finding that a defendant’'s neglect of a prisoner’s condition wds@ated
occurrence,’ ... or an ‘isolated exception’ ... to the defendant’s overall treatmiat fisoner
ordinarily militatesagainst a finding of deliberate indifferenceSutierrez 111 F.3d at 1375ee

also Walker v. Petey233 F.3d 494, 501 (7th Cir. 2000) (holding that isolated incidents of delay

cannot be construed as deliberate indifferendégr example, deliberate indifference can be
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demonstrated by showing that a governmental entity (or corporation acting asrangavel
entity) hal “such systemic and gross deficiencies in staffing, facilities, eqnpror procedures
that the inmate population is effectively deshiaccess to adequate medical €and/ellman v.
Faulkner,715 F.2d 269, 272 (7th Cir. 1983)And even if there are such deficienciedlanell
claim can prevail only if a polieynaking official knows about them and fails to correct tfiem.
Dixon v. Cty.of Cook 819 F.3d 343, 348 (7th Cir. 201@)ting Wellman,715 F.2dat 272; City

of St. Louis v. Praprotnjld85 U.S. 112, 130 (1988)).

As noted, Rowe’s claim against Corizon is that Corizon had a policy or practiceyohdela
medical treatment or pvading inadequate management of pain. In support, Rowe has submitted
affidavits frominmatesJoseph Hartsock, Joseph Brown, Donald Lee, and Joshua. Bsewgikt.

86 at 2430, dkt. 861. Joseph Hartsock details how, on or around May to June B818as
burned from hot water spilling from a mop bucket. Dkt18& 69. Mr. Hartsock asserts that the
medical staff delayed seeing him, and that when he was later prescribed megdibatmedical
staff refused to provide him with his naproxddowever, Mr. Hartsock does not appear to have
submitted any RFHCs. Only informal grievances are submitted as evideeeedat 1121.

Joseph Brown details how he had previously severed the tendons and ligaments in the
middle finger of his right hand in 2014Dkt. 86-1 at 3234. In November 2016, he4igjured that
finger, and wrote several requests for healthcare asking to be seen faurgishnf was not seen
until January 2017 by Dr. Ippel. Mr. Brown was brought to see a specialist ih RI2t¢. When
he submitted several RFId@fter that visit, he was not seen until June 2017 for his painful finger

injury by Nurse Glover.d. at 33.
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Donald Lee details how he fell and hit his head on the concrete floor in August 2015, but
failed to receive sufficigrhealth care for several months. Dkt-Bét 3638. Mr. Lee’s affidavit
does not, however, discuss any delay by NCCF medical staff in responding to l@s.RFH

Joshua Benge's affidavit asserts that NCCF medical staff provided inadegaateeht
with respect to his Hepatitis C condition. Dkt.-B@Gt 4042. However, his affidavit and the
attachments reflect that there was little delay in the medical staff's respons®kHtUs. RFHC
# 342618 was responded to within one ddyat 43, RFHC # 344024 was responded to in three
days,id. at 44, and RFHC # 294670 was responded to in threeidags 45.

Corizon argues that the provided testimony only offers “individual affiansglehsure
with individual medical staff and their healthcare in gahé but fails to provide proof of an
existing, unconstitutional policy, attributed to a Corizon policymaker, which ebRbwe’s
constitutional rights. Dkt. 89 at 16-17.

Rowe “must demonstrate that a constitutional deprivation occurred as a resudqiress
policy or custom” of CorizonFromer, 54 F. Supp. 3d at 1027. Although Rowe alleges Corizon
was responsible for maintang a custom of delaying medical care and providing inadequate
treatment, the only constitutional deprivation that arguabbturred here was a delay in response
to his RFHCs. Rowe thus must demonstrate that this delay in responding taH@s R@&s a
result of a policy or custom of Corizon.

Although Rowe has provided affidavits from other inmates in order to establish that
Corizon had a custom of delaying treatment at NCCF, only Mr. Brown and Mr. Bestifye ds
to delays in NCCF medical staff's response to their RFHCs. Mr. Browndaislude copies of
the RFHCs, but Mr. Benge has attached copies of his RFHCs, and Mr. Benge’s RHetT that

there weraninor delays, if at all, in NCCF medical staff's response to his RFHCs. aMergwo
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affidavits regarding delay is insufficient tt\@v that Corizon had a widespread practice that
caused Rowe’s alleged constitutional harimomas 588 F.3dat454.

Because Rowe has failed to establish a pattern of deficiency, or thatcgrpaking
official knew about the deficiencies and failecctorect them, summary judgment for Corizon is
granted

B. Indiana State Law Negligenceand Medical Malpractice Claims

Rowe argues that summary judgment in his favor is warranted on his ttainNurse
Beitler, Nurse Coomer, and Nurse Dillow were neglidenfailing to timely see or scheduthém
for a medical visit Dkt. 78 at 1214. Defendants assert summary judgment in their favor is
warranted because Rowe cannot maintain a claim against Nurse Beitler, Nunser Ogdorse
Dillow, Dr. Ippel, Nurse Brubeer, or Nurse Glover where defendants met the standard of care in
treating his complaints and pain. Dkt. 80 at3% Rowe responds by trying to dispute the expert
opinion prepared by defendants’ expert, Dr. Krembs, and arguing that the Court should have
appointed an independent expert. Dkt. 86 at 35-36.

To show negligence under Indiana lavis Rowes burden tadlemonstrate(l) a duty owed
by the defendant to the plaintiff; (2) a breach of that duty by the defendant; and (Birrioitie
plaintff proximately caused by the breacBee Ford Motor Co. v. Rushfori@8 N.E.2d 806, 810
(Ind. 2007);French v. State Farm Fire & Cas. C@&81 N.E.2d 1031, 1039 (Ind. Ct. App. 2008)
see also Perkins v. Laws@®12 F.3d 872, 876 (7th Cir. 2002)o shav medical negligence under
Indiana law, it is Rowe’s burden to demonstrate: (1) the appropriate standard o&lncadsc
applicable to the medical provider; (2) the medical provider’s care fell bbbtvgtandard of care;
and (3) the medical provider'siliare to meet the standard of care was the proximate cause of the

plaintiff's injuries. Watson v. Medical Emergency Servjc&32 N.E.2d 1191, 1193 (Ind. App.
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1989). In a medical malpracticease, to show a breach of dutgxpert medical testimony is
usually required to determine whether a physician’s conduct fell below theadplstandard of
care” Bader v. Johnsqry32 N.E.2d 1212, 121%8 (Ind. 2000)see also Musser v. Gentiva Health
Servs, 356 F.3d 751, 753 (7th Cir. 2004) (“[U]nder Indiaa®a laprima faciecase in medical
malpractice cannot be established without expert medical testifhoriyThis is generally so
because the technical and complicated nature of medical treatment makes itbie pasa trier
of fact to apply the standard of care without the benefit of expert opinion on thataltjoestion
of breach of duty.” Bader, 732 N.E.2d at 12178. Expert testimonys required unless the
defendant conduct is‘understandable without extensive technical ihput “so obviously
sulbstandard that one need not possess medical expertise to recognize thé b@Gpsbn v.
United States631 F.3d 448, 451 (7th Cir. 2011). If the patient fails to provide such evidence, then
“there is no triable issue” and defendant is entitled to suspnuaigment as a matter of law.
Culbertson v. Mernitz602 N.E.2d 98, 104 (Ind. 199Xerr v. Carlos 582 N.E.2d 860, 863 (Ind.
App. 1991).

As an initial matter, Rowe fails to provide any expert testynorsupport of his claim, but
blames his lack of expert testimony on the Court’s failure to appoint an independent expert. As
the Court previously explained in its March 6, 2008jer denying his motion for th€ourt to
appoint an expert, the Court “need not appoint an expert for a party’s own lzerteféxplain
symptoms that can be understood by a laypéersbarner v. Cox569 Fed. Appx. 463, 468 (7th
Cir. 2014) (citations omitted).” Dkt. 74 at 2. Moreover, the issues in this case are nobcemple
certain individuals allegedly delayed responding to RovwRFHCs while other individuals
allegedly failed to provide Rowe with Tylenol. A lay person can understand both a st tiss

injury and the benefits of TylenoFinally, as the Court previously noteglxpert witness fees are
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often more than $10,000 and in this case, Rowe’s malpractice claims seek less than &&000.
dkt. 59 at 4 n. 3seedkt. 74 at 3 Rowe’s failure to present expert testimony here is a consequence
of his financial indigencandneither pro bono counsel nor the Court banexpected to finance
his discovery costs. As seen in Rowe’s briefing lagick his past litigation historfjRowe is fully
competent to litigate this case on his own, competently overcoangqgnentsof hearsay and
inadmissibility. Seedkt. 78; dkt. 86dkt. 91, see alsdRowe v. Morton525 Fed. Appx. 426, 429
(7th Cir. 2013)(“Rowe appears capable of handling engihts litigation on his own. His
extensive litigation history.. suggests that these successes were the product of experience rather
than blind luck’).

Rowe has provided no evidence or argument as to medical malpractice by Nurse Brubake
or Nurse Glover. Thus, summary judgment on the state law medical malpréatices granted
in Nurse Brubaker and Nurse Glover’s favor.

As to Dr. IppelRowe fails to set forth what he believes to be the standard of care and thus
fails to provide any evidence of how Dr. Ippel’'s performance fell below thelata of care.To
the contrary, Dr. Krembs testified that Dr. Ippel's medical care wasoppate Summary
judgment on the state law medical malpractice claim in Dr. Ippel’s favor igated

As to Nurse Beitler, Nurse CoomeasndNurse Dillow, Rowe argues they had a duty to
provide timely and adequate health carediana law recognizes thatcastodian has a legal duty
to exercise reasonable care to preserve the life, health and safety of a persordin Gséo
Sauders v. County of Steub&®3 N.E.2d 16, 18 (Ind. 1998 Rowe asserts that the duty was
breached by their failure to timelyreedule him for an appointment or see hide asserts he was
injured when he suffered from prolonged pain. For the same reasons explained abgatienin Se

[1I(A)(5), there are material dispigef fact as to Nurse Beitler that preclude summary judgment
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onthe negligence claim. However, as to Nurse Coomer and Nurse Dillotihefeame reasons
discussedh Section I11(A)(8)(9) above, Rowe fails to show that Nurses Coomer and Dillow knew
of his condition as to have improperly delayed treatment. Thus, Rds/& show they breached
their duty. Accordingly, summary judgment on ttegligenceslaim for Rowe is denied, for Nurse
Beitler is denied, and for Nurses Coomer and Dillow is granted.

C. Corizon’s Breach of Contract

Finally, both Rowe andCorizonseek summary judgment on theeach of contraatlaim.
Rowealleges thaCorizon breached its contract with the IDOC because Corizon was aware that
inmates at NCCF had filed grievances and lawsuits related to alleged delaysdal tneatment
and inadequate management of complaints of pain and failed to take reasonablesteasurect
these deficiencies. Specifically, Rowe identifies various IDOC Hea#hBarvices Directives
("HCSD”) he alleges Corizon employees failed to comply with in his case, and argues this is
breach of contract. Defendants argue thatRdyve was provided reasonable drappropriate
medical care and treatment, and (2) Rowe fails to establish he is-pdhiydoeneficiary to the
contract. In response, Rowe has asserted he is apairty beneficiary.

Neither party has provided the Court with a substantive discussion regarding tiaetcont
claim. The entirety of Rowe argument is thaforizon failed to adhere to certain HCSD and a
statement thédte is a third party beneficiaryThe defendantssimplistic response is thdtey did
not breachany contractandRoweis not a third party beneficiary. The unfortunate result is that
the Court has not been able to rely on the partiesfibg. Instead, the Court’s ruling is based on
a reading of the contract itself, which was attached to Rometian for summary judgment, and

independent research.
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It is well-settled law that “[t]he parties to a contract are the ones to complain of a breach,
and if they are satisfied with the disposition which has been made of it andlafrai ander it,
a third party has no right to insist that it has been brbketarold McComb & Son, Inc. v.
JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA92 N.E.2d 1255, 1258 (Ind. Ct. App. 20@Bjternal quotation
omitted). In Indiana, “only the parties to a contract, those in privity witpanges, and intended
third-party beneficiaries under the contract may seek to enforce the contda¢titing Gonzales
v. Kil Nam Chun465 N.E.2d 727, 729 (Ind. Ct. App. 1984)

Rowe is not a party to the contract nor in privity with any of the parties, but hendsnt
that he is the intended third-party beneficiary under the contract. The Indiana & @Gwarhhas
explained the circumstances under which a third party to a contract may sue totbefoorgract:

To be enforceable, it must clearlypmar that it was the purpose or a purpose of the

contract to impose an obligation on one of the contracting parties in favor of the

third party. It is not enough that performance of the contract would be of benefit t

the third party. It must appear that it was the intention of one of the parties te requir

performance of some part of it in favor of such third party and for his benefit, and
that the other party to the agreement intended to assume the obligation thus
imposed. The intent of the contracting parties to bestow rights upon a third party
must affirmatively appear from the language of the instrument when properly
interpreted and construed.
Cain v. Griffin 849 N.E.2d 507, 514 (Ind. 200@nternal quotation omitted).A third party
beneficiarymust show the following:

(1) A clear intent by the actual parties to the contract to benefit the third party

(2) A duty imposed on one of the contracting parties in favor of the third party; and

(3) Performance of the contract terms is necessary to render the third pagtt a di

benefit intended by the parties to the contract.

Eckman v. GreerB69 N.E.2d 493, 496 (Ind. Ct. App. 20@@iXxing Luhnow v. Horn760 N.E.2d
621, 628 (Ind. Ct. App. 2001)). “The intent to benefit the third party is the damgrédctor and

may be shown by specifically naming the third party or by other evidemhde.”
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A copy of the contract between Corizon and IDOC is attached as an exhibit tosRowe’
motion for summary judgmentSeeDkt. 781 at 106133. While there is no dispute that the
performance of the contract was to be of benefit to the inmates of IB@0ntent of the
contracting parties to bestow rights ud@owe does naaffirmatively appear from the language
of the instrument SeeCain, 849 N.E.2d at 514In lllinois, the contract with the lllinois DOC
specifically contains a clause expressly disclaiming the existence of ahpdhtiy beneficiaries.
SeeFlournoy v. GhoshNo. 07 C 5297, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 41774, at *5 (N.D. Ill. Apr. 27,
2010} Johnson v. ShalNo. 15cv-344-SMY-RJD, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 19277, at *25 (S.D.
lll. Feb. 6, 2018). While the same clause is not found in Corizon’s Indiana IDOC coriiteact, t
only mention in the contract of inmates is in the first line of the agreement tlnet tjntractor
[Corizon] shall provide comprehensive medical services, including dental, medecdal health
and substance abuse, to offenders at IDOC correctional facilities.” Dkta7&08. This is not
anaffirmative statemeraf any intent to bestow rights upon the inmates at IDQGr is there an
affirmative statement in any part of the contract to show an intent to bestasvargthe inmates.
In Ellis v. CCA of Tenn., LLANo. 1:08cv-254-SEB-DML, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 61837, at *25
27 (S.D.Ind. June 21, 2010xertain nurses asserted that they were{bartly beneficiaries of a
contract between CCA, who was hired to manage the medical needs of inmatesm@danty
jails, and the Marion County Sheriff. The Court held that “nothindiéndontract specifically
indicates that the nurses who were employed by CCA at the Jail were interiukethird party
beneficiaries,” and therefore summary judgment in favor of CCA was warraltte&imilarly,
becausehere was no intent by Corizon or IDOC to specifically benefit and cogletsrupon the
inmates at IDOC'’s correctional facilities in their contr&twe has no legal standing to complain

because he is not a thiparty beneficiaryo the contract.
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Even if Rowe was a thirgbarty beneficiary to the contract and was correct that Corizon
breached its contract with the IDOC, Rowe fadled to demonstrate any damages from the alleged
breach. SeeWESCO Distribution, Inc. v. ArcelorMittal Ind. Harbor LL.@3 N.E.3d 682, 695
(Ind. Ct. App. 2014)*“The elements of a breach of contract claim are the existence of a contract,
the defendard breach, and damages to the plairiiff.

Accordingly,Rowe’s motion for summary judgment on this claim is denied, and@us
motion for summary judgment on this claim is granted.

V. Conclusion

It has been explained that “summary judgment serves as the ultimate screen totweed ou
truly insubstantial lawsuits prior to trial.Crawford-El v. Britton,118 S. Ct. 1584, 1598 (1998).
This is a vital role in the management of court dockets, in the delivery ofgjustindividual
litigants, and in meeting society’s expectations that a system of justiG@@p#ectively. Indeed,

“it is a gratuitous arelty to parties and their witnesses to put them through the emotional ordeal
of a trial when the outcome is foreordained,” and in such cases, summary judgrpprisiate.
Mason v. Continental lllinois Nat’'| Bank,04 F.2d 361, 367 (7th Cir. 1983).

Rowe’s motion for partial summary judgment, dkt. [77]denied Defendants’ motion
for summary judgment, dkt. [79], gganted in part and denied in part, as follows:

e Nurse Wehrley, Dr. Ippel, Nurse Coomer, Nurse Dillow, Nurse Brubaker, Nuose!Gl
andCorizon are entitled to judgment as a matter of law okiitjeth Amendment claims

e Nurse Beitler antHSA Miller arenot entitled to judgment as a matter of law onHnghth
Amendment clairs;

e Nurse Beitler isnot entitled to judgment as a matter of law on thdiana state law

negligence claim;
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e Nurse Coomer and Nurse Dillow are entitled to judgment as a matter of lawlnditre
state law negligence clasn
e Nurse Brubaker, Nurse Glover, and Dr. Ippel are edtitbejudgment as a matter of law
on thelndiana state law medical malpractice claims; and
e Corizon is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on teadh ofcontract claim.
The claims remaining for resolution are the Eighth Amendment deliberate iaditie
claims against Nurse Beitler artSA Miller and the negligence claim against Nurse Beitler.
Because this action will be resolved by settlement or tie, Nlagistrate Judge is
requested to set this matter for a telephonic status conference to disatisther development
is necessary for trial and if the case is amenable to settlement
The clerk isdirected to terminate on the docketdefendantdNurse Wehrley, Dr. Ippel,
Nurse Coomer, Nurse Dillow, Nurse Brubaker, Nurse Glover, and Corizon.
No patial final judgment shall issue.

IT 1S SO ORDERED.

SARAH EVANS BARKER, JUDGE
United States District Court
Southern District of Indiana
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